Decision 10-06-048 June 24, 2010

#### BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Application of Pacific Gas and Electric Company for Authority to Increase Revenue Requirements to Recover the Costs to Implement a Program to Improve the Reliability of Its Electric Distribution System (U 39 E).

Application 08-05-023 (Filed May 15, 2008)

(See Attachment B for List of Appearances.)

DECISION ON PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY REQUEST TO IMPLEMENT A PROGRAM TO IMPROVE ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM RELIABILITY

427524 - 1 -

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title	Page
DECISION ON PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY	2
REQUEST TO IMPLEMENT A PROGRAM TO IMPROVE	2
ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM RELIABILITY	2
1. Summary	2
2. Background	
2.1. Procedural Matters	
3. PG&E's Updated Request	6
4. Positions of the Other Parties	
4.1. TURN	8
4.2. DRA	9
4.3. CUE	10
4.4. CCSF	11
4.5. CFBF	12
4.6. ESC	12
5. Commission Review	13
6. Need for Cornerstone	14
6.1. Discussion	15
7. How to Proceed	18
7.1. Cornerstone	18
7.2. Future Proceedings	19
8. Adopted Elements of Cornerstone	
8.1. Distribution Automation	
8.1.1. PG&E's Proposal	21
8.1.2. Discussion	22
8.2. Feeder Interconnectivity	25
8.2.1. PG&E's Proposal	25
8.2.2. Discussion	27
8.3. Substation Transformer Emergency Capacity	28
8.3.1. PG&E's Proposal	28
8.3.2. Discussion	30
8.4. Rural Reliability	35
8.4.1. PG&E's Proposal	35
8.4.2. Discussion	36
8.5. SAIDI and SAIFI Benefits	38
9. Adopted Costs	39

## A.08-05-023 ALJ/DKF/avs

10. Implementation Flexibility	40
Title	Page
11 C + D	40
11. Cost Recovery	40
11.1. Discussion	42
12. Reporting Requirements	44
12.1. Discussion	45
13. Rate Design	46
14. Comments on Proposed Decision	46
15. Assignment of Proceeding	46
Findings of Fact	47
Conclusions of Law	50
ORDER	52
ATTACHMENT A - Authorized Expenditures for the Years 201	0 through 2013
ATTACHMENT B – Lists of Appearances	-

## DECISION ON PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY REQUEST TO IMPLEMENT A PROGRAM TO IMPROVE ELECTRIC DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM RELIABILITY

### 1. Summary

This decision determines that Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) has not demonstrated the need for its broad based Cornerstone Improvement Project that is designed to elevate PG&E's electric distribution reliability to a substantially higher level at a cost of \$1,992.0 million in capital and \$58.9 million in expense over the period 2010 through 2016. Instead, expenditures amounting to \$357.4 million in capital and \$9.2 million in expense, for the period 2010 through 2013, are authorized to fund a reduced program that (1) addresses specifically identified problems related to worst-performing circuits and substation transformer emergency capacity and (2) implements feeder interconnectivity and rural reliability projects that are cost-effective. Still, through this reduced program, it is estimated that up to 68% of the quantifiable reliability improvement benefits identified in PG&E's Cornerstone Improvement Project proposal can be achieved for the approximate 18% of the requested costs.

Particular projects that are rejected at this time are done so without prejudice. PG&E should address all future electric distribution reliability matters in an integrated fashion through the general rate case process. For its 2014 general rate case, PG&E is required to perform and present a value of service study to help it and the Commission decide to what extent, if any, electric distribution reliability should be improved to satisfy its customers' needs. In developing future reliability improvement programs or projects PG&E must be able to demonstrate the need for such programs or projects, and if there is a need, whether the program or project represents the optimal solution when

considering alternatives and cost-effectiveness in the identification and prioritization processes.

#### 2. Background

Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) filed its Cornerstone Improvement Project (Cornerstone) application, because the company believes that it is time to improve the resiliency and reliability of its electric distribution system to a level better than the "adequate" service standard adopted for PG&E in past General Rate Cases (GRCs). PG&E states that, while it has met the reliability standards set by the Commission in past years, it is proposing through the seven-year Cornerstone project to improve the reliability of its electric distribution system to a level substantially above current level and bring its performance closer to that of the other investor-owned utilities in California.

PG&E proposes adding substation transformers, doing increased interconnectivity work between distribution circuits, installing distribution automation on more distribution circuits, and improving rural reliability through the installation of reclosers and fuses. According to PG&E, the project is designed not only to improve PG&E's System Average Interruption Duration Index (SAIDI) and System Average Interruption Frequency Index (SAIFI) numbers, but also to bring PG&E's asset utilization in line with industry practice, to extend the service lives of distribution equipment, and to put into place building blocks that may provide for even better reliability and enhanced customer service once "Smart Grid" technology is more fully developed in the coming years.

#### 2.1. Procedural Matters

This application was filed on May 15, 2008. At the time of the filing, PG&E requested that the Commission approve and fund Cornerstone over the

six year period 2009 through 2014, with estimated capital expenditures amounting to \$2,322 million and operation and maintenance expenses of \$43 million. PG&E also proposed that the Commission impose a reliability performance metric which will result in financial penalties if PG&E did not meet the targets and symmetrical financial rewards if PG&E exceeded the targets.

On June 17, 2008, The Utility Reform Network (TURN) and the Division of Ratepayer Advocates (DRA) jointly filed a motion to dismiss the application. TURN/DRA argued that PG&E's request should be addressed not separately from, but as part of, the GRC process, and the request to do so now is a unilateral attempt to modify key terms of the Settlement regarding the distribution infrastructure funding levels adopted by the Commission in Decision (D.) 07-03-044.

Responses to the motion to dismiss were filed on June 30, 2008, by PG&E, and on July 2, 2008, by the Coalition of California Utility Employees (CUE) and jointly by the California Large Energy Consumers Association (CLECA), California Manufacturers & Technology Association (CMTA), and Energy Producers & Users Coalition (EPUC). PG&E and CUE argued that the motion should be denied, while CLECA, CMTA, and EPUC supported the motion. TURN and DRA filed a reply on July 18, 2008.

On December 19, 2009, an assigned Commissioner's and Administrative Law Judge's (ALJ) Joint Ruling was issued. The ruling denied the motion to dismiss in part, indicating that the Commission would consider PG&E's Cornerstone request as part of this proceeding. The motion to dismiss was granted in part, in that any revenue requirement increase related to the project for the years 2009 and 2010 would not be recoverable from ratepayers, and any reliability incentive mechanism that might be adopted as part of this

proceeding could not be implemented until 2011, at the earliest. These two conditions were deemed necessary in order to honor certain terms and conditions of the GRC Settlement adopted by the Commission in D.07-03-044.

PG&E filed a prehearing conference (PHC) statement on January 14, 2009, indicating that it would update its testimony in light of the ruling on the motion to dismiss and the lapse of time since the application was filed. In the PHC statement, PG&E presented a revised scope of issues and a proposed procedural schedule that envisioned the issuance of a final decision by August 20, 2009. A joint PHC statement was filed on January 22, 2009 by TURN, DRA, the California Farm Bureau Federation (CFBF), and CLECA. The joint parties identified additional issues to be considered within the scope of the proceeding, identified their understanding of PG&E's burdens of production and proof as the Applicant, and proposed a schedule that would add approximately four months to that proposed by PG&E. These matters were discussed at the January 26, 2009 PHC. The assigned Commissioner's Ruling and Scoping Memo was issued on February 23, 2009.

PG&E served updated testimony on March 17, 2009. Responsive testimony was filed on July 17, 2009. PG&E and CUE served rebuttal testimony on August 7, 2009. Evidentiary hearings were held August 24, 2009 through August 26, 2009. Opening Briefs were filed on September 25, 2009. Reply briefs

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Testimony was served by DRA, TURN, CFBF, CUE, and the City and County of San Francisco (CCSF).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Opening and reply briefs were filed by PG&E, DRA, TURN, CFBF, CUE, CCSF, and the Engineers and Scientists of California (ESC).

were filed on October 9, 2009, at which time this proceeding was submitted for decision.

#### 3. PG&E's Updated Request

In its March 17, 2009 updated testimony, PG&E requests that the Commission approve and fund a seven-year Cornerstone program, for the years 2010 through 2016, with estimated capital expenditures of \$1,992 million and operation and maintenance expenses of \$59 million.

PG&E requests increases in its revenue requirement to account for the capital costs associated with these plant additions. Consistent with the December 19, 2008, assigned Commissioner's Ruling, PG&E will not increase rates to pay for the Cornerstone revenue requirements in 2010 and will therefore forego recovery of the costs associated with Cornerstone in 2010. PG&E will include all capital expenditures in its rate base and recover the costs of those capital improvements over the remaining life of the assets beginning in 2011. For the years 2011 through 2016, PG&E estimates revenue requirements totaling \$1,112 million.<sup>3</sup>

PG&E proposes to track the revenue requirement associated with this project in a balancing account and will return to customers, with interest, any revenues authorized by this Commission that are in excess of the revenue requirement needed to recover the recorded costs of the reliability projects envisioned in Cornerstone. In addition, PG&E proposes to file annual reports with the Commission, describing work done over the previous year, a forecast of

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The remaining revenue requirement associated with the Cornerstone program would be recovered in rates over the remaining depreciable life of the assets. The depreciable life of the distribution expenditures is approximately 30 years.

the work to be performed in the coming year, and documentation supporting any changes from prior forecasts at the level of elements over \$1 million in capital expenditures.

The table below summarizes PG&E's request, as updated in its March 17, 2009 testimony.

PG&E Request	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	Total	
-	(Nominal dollars in thousands)								
Capital Expenditures									
Distribution Capacity	\$ 55,352	\$188,471	\$254,474	\$261,705	\$240,577	\$188,175	\$135,523	\$1,324,277	
Distribution Automation	41,460	85,394	117,377	120,866	93,520	80,405	66,367	605,389	
Rural Reliability	4,270	8,796	12,091	12,451	9,635	8,284	6,838	62,365	
<b>Total Capital Expenditures</b>	\$101,082	\$282,661	\$383,942	\$395,022	\$343,732	\$276,864	\$208,728	\$1,992,031	
Expenses									
Distribution Capacity	-	\$ 3	\$ 742	\$ 1,784	\$ 2,893	\$ 4,071	\$ 5,046	\$ 14,539	
Distribution Automation	_	\$ 975	\$ 3,022	\$ 5,902	\$ 8,968	\$ 11,491	\$ 13,790	\$ 44,148	
Rural Reliability	<u>-</u>	5	16	32	48	62	74	237	
<b>Total Expenses</b>	\$ -	\$ 983	\$ 3,780	\$ 7,718	\$ 11,909	\$ 15,624	\$ 18,910	\$ 58,924	
Revenue Requirement	\$ -	\$ 40,540	\$ 97,491	163,652	\$224,827	\$275,753	\$310,027	\$1,112,290	

TURN, CUE and DRA opposed PG&E's proposed Reliability Performance Incentive Mechanism. In its rebuttal testimony,<sup>4</sup> PG&E withdrew its proposal to establish a reliability performance metric with associated penalties and rewards, stating that after reviewing the intervenors' testimony, and given the complexity of developing an appropriate evaluation mechanism, the company believes that rather than litigating this issue further, it is preferable to simply remove this part of its proposal.

#### 4. Positions of the Other Parties

A number of different parties participated in this proceeding. Parties object to at least some, if not all, aspects of the Cornerstone proposal, and have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Exhibit 2, at 1-22.

supplemented the record with their testimonies and recommendations. A brief summary of their positions follow.

#### **4.1. TURN**

TURN urges the Commission to reject PG&E's application arguing that the request is unreasonable and inadequately supported and PG&E's approach to this matter is fundamentally flawed. According to TURN, PG&E's proposal is not cost-effective, is not prioritized to provide the most benefits at the least cost, contains well over a billion dollars of spending that will have miniscule impacts (if any) on reliability measures, and ignores existing equipment. Also, PG&E has not demonstrated that its proposal will address the types of reliability events that spawned the application, such as the 2006 heat storms, the 2007-2008 storm season, and other high profile outages. TURN states by the Commission saying "no" to PG&E's application, PG&E will be required to work with the tools already available to the utility to address reliability performance, just as it did in developing and implementing the 2007 SAIFI Reduction Program (designed to achieve 40% of the SAIDI improvement at 2% of the cost of the Distribution Reliability Improvement Program). TURN adds that the record evidence suggests that Cornerstone would not only serve the more general goal of increasing rate base investment as a means of achieving the company's ambitious earning growth goals, but is specifically identified as a way out of the hole created by the shortfall in its "Business Transformation" efforts.

TURN's primary alternative recommendation would have the Commission provide clear guidance as to the type of showing the utility needs to make in support of any proposal for additional reliability-targeted spending, and create a separate phase of the upcoming GRC to consider such proposals. TURN also recognizes that where the subject matter is PG&E's service reliability, the

Commission may be reluctant to reject the application in its entirety and instead desire to give the utility some amount of additional funding to spend toward improving reliability. If the Commission decides to authorize some funding in this application, TURN recommends that it should approve funding in amounts no greater than those set forth in TURN's second alternative recommendation. It should also condition any such funding as TURN proposed in that alternative, to achieve some degree of the prioritization and cost consciousness that TURN asserts is lacking in the application. TURN estimates that this alternative provides approximately 65% of PG&E's reliability (SAIDI/SAIFI) improvement for 11% of PG&E's budget recommendation. The capital expenditures associated with TURN's alternative recommendation are \$129.7 million for distribution automation; \$44.7 million for distribution capacity principally to support distribution automation; and \$53.3 million for accelerated rural reliability. TURN would also include \$7.7 million in expenses for distribution automation.

#### 4.2. DRA

DRA urges the rejection of PG&E's Cornerstone proposal. The general issues upon which DRA bases its opposition to the project are as follows: PG&E fails to satisfy its evidentiary burden; it violates statutory law and Commission precedent; and PG&E's regulatory showing has no meaningful or reliable evidence to support the project's cost-effectiveness, the value of the service it offers customers, or inter-utility comparisons on reliability, and provides insufficient details on the specific projects within Cornerstone. Also, DRA states that ratepayers' perceptions and opinions were not factors that were considered regarding whether PG&E needed to improve its electric distribution reliability. Moreover, according to DRA, there is good evidence that the Cornerstone

application is primarily motivated by its corporate interest in increasing its rate base, rather than some genuine concern with serving its customers interests.

From purely policy perspective, DRA states that there could be a reasonable argument that PG&E should be entitled to consider whether to institute a program such as Cornerstone. However, DRA asserts that PG&E should have limited its request as one for guidance from the Commission, rather than the \$2 billion application being considered here, adding that for a policy-supported project to go into effect, it would have to be based on tangible, verifiable, and reasonable proof that its costs and benefits would ultimately serve the public's interest. According to DRA, Cornerstone offers none of that.

#### 4.3. CUE

CUE agrees with PG&E's position that its reliability performance is inferior to that of other utilities and that its reliability can be improved. CUE states that given proper resources, PG&E could (and should) provide better reliability to its customers.

CUE indicates that Cornerstone reliability improvements are a far cheaper solution than generation-side reliability improvements. However, CUE asserts that by excluding whole categories of potential reliability improvements, Cornerstone misses opportunities to either achieve greater reliability improvements than proposed in the filing, or achieve similar reliability improvements but at lower cost. Therefore, CUE agrees with TURN's proposal that a second phase of the 2011 GRC be created to evaluate cost – effective reliability measures. CUE asserts that such measures should include those rejected by PG&E for consideration in this proceeding such as increased staffing, shortening equipment restoration times, tree trimming beyond General Order 95 requirements, and any other measures PG&E may identify.

In general, CUE states PG&E's electric distribution capacity proposal and distribution automation proposal are reasonable. Also, given the significant benefits of the rural reliability program, CUE recommends that the program be expanded, by spending more money on fuses and reclosers for rural reliability than proposed and expanding the program to urban and suburban areas, as long as the additional fuses and reclosers are at least as cost-effective as the overall Cornerstone project. Lastly, CUE recommends that the Commission should require PG&E to keep its apprentice pipeline full as an additional means to improve reliability.

#### 4.4. CCSF

CCSF supports efforts to improve the reliability and safety of PG&E's electric service system, provided that PG&E demonstrates that the costs of such improvements are reasonable. CCSF states that PG&E had a choice of a variety of programs to achieve the goal of improving reliability, and the main issue in this application is whether PG&E has selected the right programs.

According to CCSF, there are well-accepted methods in the electric utility industry to quantitatively compare the cost-effectiveness of potential reliability improvement programs, and PG&E failed to take advantage of any of the available methods. As a result, CCSF asserts that PG&E has failed to meet its burden of demonstrating the reasonableness of its Cornerstone proposal. That is, PG&E cannot demonstrate the reasonableness of its proposed programs without a showing that those programs are cost-effective, i.e., rank favorably among the possible alternatives in terms of their reliability bang for the buck.

Consequently, CCSF recommends that the Commission deny the application without prejudice and invite PG&E to submit in another proceeding (either a new application or a general rate case) properly supported proposals to

achieve the important goal of improving system reliability and safety. To support such proposals, PG&E should identify all reasonable alternatives and then evaluate and rank those alternatives using a cost effectiveness analysis of the type illustrated in CCSF's testimony.

In the event that Commission approves some of PG&E proposed expenditures for distribution automation, CCSF recommends that the Commission should direct PG&E to do a cost-benefit analysis to ensure that improvements are made to the most deserving circuits, regardless of voltage.

#### 4.5. CFBF

CFBF recommends that PG&E's application be denied in its entirety. According to CFBF, PG&E is seeking approval of a very expensive capital investment program to address a perceived problem before the Commission has reasonably investigated and rationally determined that an actual problem exists. Further, the perceived problem underpinning Cornerstone – that PG&E's reliability is significantly worse than other utilities – is based solely upon a comparison of reliability metrics that both the Commission and PG&E have found invalid and meaningless. Lastly, CFBF asserts that PG&E's Cornerstone lacks the necessary studies and analyses to allow the Commission to determine whether the proposed projects are cost effective, provide sufficient value to PG&E's customers and are affordable, considering California's economic difficulties.

#### 4.6. ESC

ESC supports the goal of Cornerstone to improve the reliability of the distribution system for the benefit of PG&E's customers. However, ESC is concerned that PG&E will not implement Cornerstone efficiently or effectively, and that a lack of recruitment, training, or a commitment to use PG&E

employees to perform the required design and engineering work will squander an ideal opportunity to make real improvements to distribution reliability and waste \$2 billion of ratepayers' money.

#### 5. Commission Review

By addressing electric distribution reliability now rather than as part of PG&E's test year 2011 GRC, as would normally be the case, this issue has been singled out as being important to the Commission. As stated in the February 23, 2009 assigned Commissioner and ALJ's Joint Ruling:

...A reliably functioning electric distribution system is crucial for maintaining the welfare of the utility's customers and supporting the economy. It is preferable to begin the scrutiny and detailed analyses to determine whether major capital expenditures are necessary to maintain or improve distribution reliability and, if necessary, to determine the extent and timing of such expenditures, sooner rather than later ... (at 5).

While we have stressed the importance of reliability, it is only a part of our overall responsibility to ensure that utilities provide safe, reliable, and efficient service at reasonable rates.

PG&E's Cornerstone proposal is designed to increase electric distribution reliability, primarily through capital expenditures to bolster or replace certain aspects of its electric distribution infrastructure. As with any review of capital additions, our primary concerns are (1) whether there is a need for Cornerstone; (2) if there is a need, whether Cornerstone represents the optimal solution when considering alternatives and cost-effectiveness analysis that takes into consideration both quantifiable and non-quantifiable benefits.

While we will look at the Cornerstone proposal in total, we will also consider whether it is appropriate and reasonable to adopt portions of the proposal rather than the total amount. There are a number of parts to PG&E's proposal, and some may stand up better than others to our review.

PG&E, as the applicant, has the burden of affirmatively establishing the reasonableness of all aspects of its request and proving that it is entitled to the relief in rates that is seeking. As with any GRC related matter, the standard of proof that the applicant must meet is that of a preponderance of evidence.

It is with these basic principles in mind that we will review PG&E's Cornerstone request.

#### 6. Need for Cornerstone

According to PG&E, this filing is fundamentally about the policy question of whether PG&E should undertake the work, as proposed, to provide customers with a new level of improved reliability. Prior to filing the Cornerstone application, two Commissioners expressed concern about PG&E's level of reliability. PG&E states that it took these comments seriously and developed Cornerstone, a 7-year program that is designed to (1) improve reliability through fundamental changes in system design; and (2) reduce SAIDI for PG&E's customers by 25 percent and SAIFI by 33 percent.

PG&E states that its reliability performance over the past four years has been better than the adequate service standard established in its 1999 GRC (D.00-02-046). Also, its performance has been generally consistent with the more stringent targets established by the Commission as part of PG&E's 2005-2007 Reliability Incentive Mechanism (D.04-10-034). However, according to PG&E, the outages during the heat storm of 2006 prompted it to explore ways to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Commission President Peevey and Commissioner Simon made comments on PG&E's reliability performance at the July 26, 2007 Commission meeting.

improve reliability performance, and the 2007-2008 storm season reinforced the need to improve performance.

After considering its reliability performance, PG&E decided the most prudent approach would be to focus on strengthening the grid, increasing its flexibility, and installing automation to improve base reliability. PG&E believes that its customers will be best served by improving base reliability thereby providing performance benefits every day of the year – not just during extreme events. However, PG&E adds that the proposed infrastructure will also help reduce the duration and extent of outages during extreme or lower probability events and provide long-term benefits to its customers.

As indicated previously, CUE, ESC, and CCSF generally do not dispute the need for Cornerstone, while TURN, DRA, and CFBF argue that there is no demonstrated need for the proposed program.

#### 6.1. Discussion

To begin, we note TURN's statement regarding the identification of Cornerstone as a way out of the hole created by the shortfall in its "Business Transformation" efforts. DRA also noted references linking Cornerstone with PG&E's attempts to reach an 8%+ compound annual growth in earnings per share. We understand that discussions with, and presentation to, investors would likely include the identification of specific planned projects and the relationship of such projects with respect to earnings and potential growth in earnings. We do not know whether or not Wall Street-related motivations for Cornerstone were significant or overriding in PG&E's formulation of the scope and cost of Cornerstone. However, our determinations in this proceeding are devoid of such concerns. This decision addresses the need for improving

PG&E's electric distribution reliability, not the need for maintaining or increasing shareholder earnings.

With respect to PG&E's statement that whether or not it should proceed with Cornerstone and provide its customers with a new level of improved reliability is fundamentally a policy question, our overarching policy is that PG&E must provide reliable electric service to its customers. However, that alone is insufficient reason for approving Cornerstone. We also have the obligation to ensure that rates are reasonable. Whether characterized as a policy or a basic ratemaking principle, for a capital program or project such as Cornerstone, there must be a compelling demonstration of need. A broad policy such as the desirability of maintaining or improving electric distribution reliability can only be implemented at the program or project level if there is demonstrated need for the particular programs or projects. PG&E has the burden to demonstrate such need for Cornerstone. After considering the evidence, we conclude that the need for Cornerstone has not been demonstrated.

First of all, the scope and costs of Cornerstone are substantial. While the revenue requirements for the years 2010 through 2016, as calculated by PG&E, amount to \$1.1 billion, cost recovery for the project will extend far beyond that timeframe and result in a revenue requirement totaling closer to \$6 billion. Also, while the outages during the heat storm of 2006, the 2007-2008 storm season, and Commissioners' comments with respect to outages are reasonable factors for PG&E to consider in evaluating the state of its electric distribution reliability, these factors alone are not sufficient for determining that a program of Cornerstone's magnitude is necessary. PG&E acknowledges that Cornerstone will not prevent infrastructure failures, but states that, in general, the proposal will allow PG&E to restore service to customers faster and to isolate impacted

lines to minimize the number of customers affected by such failures. While reducing the impacts of outages is a worthwhile goal, as discussed later in this decision, a significantly less costly program from that proposed in Cornerstone can still capture a substantial amount of such benefits. There is no good evidence to indicate what level of overall improved reliability is necessary or appropriate. Without knowing this, there is no way for us to determine that a program as substantial as Cornerstone is necessary.

While historical SAIDI and SAIFI comparisons indicate that PG&E's reliability is lower than specified comparison groups, there are reasons for the discrepancies, and the Commission has previously stated:

As we have found in previous decisions, it is not particularly useful to compare utilities with different customer counts, different geography and weather patterns, different system configurations, not to mention different methods of calculating SAIDI, SAIFI, and MAIFI. Given these factors, it is extremely unlikely that any two utilities would ever achieve similar performance results; therefore, we are reluctant to place much faith in such comparisons. We believe that the more appropriate comparison to make is a comparison between PG&E's historical performance and its current performance.<sup>6</sup>

PG&E has not provided any compelling reasons for changing this previous determination. The data simply shows that, with all the indicated qualifications, PG&E's electric reliability is lower than groups of other utilities. It does not demonstrate the need to narrow that gap to any particular level, if at all.

At this point, the more compelling evidence, with respect to the need for Cornerstone, is that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> D.04-10-034, at 73.

- 1. PG&E's current electric distribution reliability is at least adequate, as established by the Commission in D.00-02-046.
- 2. Projects necessary to maintain this adequate level of electric distribution reliability are addressed in PG&E's GRCs, including the current 2011 GRC.
- 3. A value of service (VOS) study was conducted by PG&E in 2005.<sup>7</sup>
- 4. In the 2005 VOS study, it is indicated that current PG&E customers in all classes report in high numbers that the service they are receiving meets or exceeds their expectations for service quality and that most customers participating in the research are receiving acceptable service, as a function of outage frequency, for service interruptions of all types.8
- 5. There is no new VOS evidence that supersedes the 2005 VOS study.

The preponderance of evidence does not support the need for a program with the scope and cost of Cornerstone. For that reason, PG&E's request for cost recovery of Cornerstone will be denied.

#### 7. How to Proceed

#### 7.1. Cornerstone

Since Cornerstone, as proposed, will not be adopted, we must at this point determine how to proceed. PG&E indicates that its recently filed 2011 GRC will include base reliability work essentially aimed at maintaining the current levels of electric distribution reliability. If Cornerstone is rejected in total, we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The <u>2005 Value of Service Study Pacific Gas & Electric Company</u>, dated December 14, 2005, was prepared for PG&E by Freeman, Sullivan & Co. The Executive Summary is contained in Exhibit 103.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Exhibit 103, Executive Summary, at 6.

would not be addressing measures to improve overall electric distribution reliability until the 2014 GRC or until PG&E makes another separate filing such as for Cornerstone.

In considering Cornerstone separately now rather than deferring it to the 2011 GRC, we indicated our overall concern with respect to electric distribution reliability. Since Cornerstone was designed to significantly improve that reliability, we determined it was preferable to address the request sooner rather than later. We have done that and determined that Cornerstone, as proposed, is not necessary. However, electric distribution reliability is still important and we support necessary and optimal programs or projects that will increase such reliability. In that vein, there are some elements of Cornerstone that we feel are attractive in that they address particular reliability needs in a more focused and cost-effective manner than the total Cornerstone proposal. We address those aspects of Cornerstone in the remainder of this decision rather than deferring such consideration to a later proceeding.

## 7.2. Future Proceedings

With respect to future proceedings, PG&E should address all electric distribution reliability matters in an integrated fashion through the GRC process. This will allow consideration and prioritization of all types of reliability programs and projects (existing, expanded or new), not only in the context of reliability but in the context of the overall base revenue requirement. PG&E should implement a process to determine an appropriate path to take with respect providing an appropriate level of reliability to customers. That includes determining whether it would be necessary and appropriate to propose a large scale project such as Cornerstone, something more moderate, or nothing at all. In any case, PG&E should be ready to justify the path it chooses.

Basic to that justification process is a VOS study. We left it up to PG&E as to whether it should conduct a new VOS study as part of the process for justifying the need for Cornerstone, and PG&E chose not to conduct one. Therefore, the latest information with respect to VOS for PG&E's customers is the 2005 study. This study is inadequate for going forward for the years 2014 and beyond. As part of its next GRC (at this point scheduled for test year 2014) PG&E should conduct a new VOS study for use, at least in part, in determining and justifying its electric distribution reliability needs. We will leave it up to PG&E to determine what other information is necessary to support its position with respect to such needs.

For any proposed reliability programs or projects, PG&E should, as part of its processes, consider all reasonable alternatives, including the types of solutions proposed by other parties in this proceeding. In determining what is optimal, we expect PG&E to conduct appropriate levels of cost-effectiveness analyses.<sup>10</sup> This does not mean that a project that does not have a benefit to cost ratio greater than 1.0 should necessarily be rejected from consideration.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See February 12, 2009 assigned Commissioner Ruling and Scoping Memo, at 11–12. The ruling left how to best justify Cornerstone up to PG&E, indicating that "[i]n the end whether the request stands or falls depends on whether or not PG&E demonstrates that the request is just and reasonable in light of concerns expressed by other parties as well as by the Commission." It was left to PG&E to decide whether a new VOS study or cost/benefit analyses were necessary for such purposes. In not including either in its updated testimony, PG&E apparently decided they were not necessary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> As CCSF indicates in its opening brief, at 15-16, the type of cost effectiveness analysis, whether it is at a micro or macro level, depends on the scope of the proposal. In the case of Cornerstone, CCSF states PG&E should have used a macro-level analysis. In the case of KEMA and Quanta studies those studies were focused on a particular geographic area and they were able to drill down to the more micro levels.

Knowing the extent of how cost-ineffective a project may be will aid in the process of determining whether it is reasonable to proceed with the project, or how the project should be prioritized, when considering other factors such as the severity of the problem being addressed and non-quantifiable benefits.

#### 8. Adopted Elements of Cornerstone

Our rejection of Cornerstone as proposed does not mean that current reliability must remain static or that it is unnecessary to address the needs of certain customers who may receiving a lower level of reliability than other PG&E customers. Nor does it mean that we should ignore identified problems with PG&E's electric distribution system that may affect reliability.

Also, while we did not find the use of reliability index comparisons to be a compelling reason for adopting Cornerstone, we do recognize the value to PG&E's customers in improving PG&E's own SAIDI and SAIFI measures over time by implementing needed projects in a cost-effective manner. In considering the different elements of the Cornerstone proposal, we are looking to see if such value can be achieved by adopting a scaled down version of PG&E's proposal.

#### 8.1. Distribution Automation

#### 8.1.1. PG&E's Proposal

In this proceeding, PG&E is proposing to spend \$605 million in capital to install a distribution automation system referred to as fault location, isolation and service restoration, or "FLISR," on 1,200 circuits in urban and suburban areas between 2010 and 2016. More specifically, PG&E plans to automate all of its 17-kilovolt (kV) and 21-kV circuits in urban and suburban areas (approximately 400 feeders) and approximately 800 12-kV feeders, which represents 56% of all of PG&E's urban and suburban 12-kV feeders. In addition to the actual line devices installed as a part of Cornerstone, PG&E will also

automate circuit breakers, update substation equipment and purchase or use a communication system to allow the automated devices to transmit information and receive instructions. PG&E states that its proposal to install an estimated 6,000 line devices and pieces of communication equipment will provide significant automation on its system, similar to what other utilities are doing across the United States for their customers. PG&E adds that automating these circuits in urban and suburban areas will have the greatest impact on the largest number of customers and will create a significantly smarter grid. Also, while the distribution automation proposal is a significant undertaking, it will provide a substantial increase in PG&E's reliability performance and will provide long-term, concrete reliability benefits for PG&E customers.

#### 8.1.2. Discussion

PG&E states that it elected to automate 1,200 circuits, including most of the 17-kv and 21k-v circuits and 800 12-kv circuits, because it recognized that performance of certain circuits varied over time and that automating all of the identified circuits provided the most significant reliability improvements for customers and created a much more robust distribution system. This may all be true, but we have already determined that PG&E has not demonstrated the need for a program of Cornerstone's magnitude. At this point, there is insufficient justification for authorizing capital expenditures amounting to over \$600 million to maximize reliability improvements or create a more robust distribution system. At some future point in time, this may change. PG&E will have the opportunity to justify the need to do so in future GRCs when it evaluates its reliability requirements more comprehensively and in more detail.

What is of interest now is the identification of the worst-performing circuits. We consider worst-performing circuits to be a problem simply as a

matter of equity. While it will always be the case that some customers, for various reasons, will receive higher or lower levels of reliability than other customers, it is important that the needs of customers who continually receive significantly poorer service be addressed.

In its testimony, DRA includes graphs that show, for the 12kv, 17kv and 21kv circuits in urban and suburban areas, there are distinctly identifiable worst circuits in each of the categories.<sup>11</sup> DRA argues that PG&E should be addressing the worst-performing circuits as part of the Company's regular business activities in the GRC, even without its Cornerstone proposal.

As part of its second alternative recommendation, TURN recommends that the Commission adopt funding of \$129.7 million in capital expenditures and \$7.7 million in expense for automating PG&E's worst 400 circuits, regardless of voltage level, over the time period 2010 through 2013. This recommendation would capture the identifiable worst performing circuits shown on DRA's graphs, as well as for 4-kv circuits. TURN notes that automating the 400 worst circuits would cost \$7.2 million per minute of SAIDI saved, while the additional 817 circuits not in the group of 400 worst would cost \$28.6 million per minute of SAIDI reduction. TURN also bases its estimate of cost assuming three automated zones per feeder, <sup>12</sup> and notes that automating more than three zones over all of the 1,217 circuits PG&E wants to automate only nets a SAIDI reduction of 1.17 minutes, but adds \$133.4 million in costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See Exhibit 503, at 6–10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The number of automated zones on a feeder is the primary driver of reliability benefits. PG&E assumes three to five zones per feeder in its analysis.

While TURN's proposed budget is based on implementing distribution automation on the 400 worst-performing circuits, TURN recognizes that what gets done may be somewhat different from that. TURN states that PG&E needs to do what is cost-effective and even some of the 400 worst circuits may not be cost-effective if the cost of automating them and building additional connectivity is prohibitively expensive. TURN indicates that the purpose of its proposed budget is to require PG&E to prioritize its program so that it obtains the most reliability benefit for the least cost (recognizing operational constraints). If certain circuits fall within this worst-performing group, but the combined cost of automating them and building additional connectivity is prohibitively expensive (e.g., because a project requires five miles of underground line or a new transformer bank, etc.), then it may be that PG&E skips some circuits and implements automation on the 406th worst-performing circuit instead. Similarly, TURN states that it does not mean to suggest that PG&E automate only three zones on every circuit. There may be a few cases where automating four zones would net a much higher return than it would on the average circuit.

TURN's alternative recommendation for distribution automation is a reasonable means for addressing our reliability concerns with respect to poorly performing circuits. We will adopt its recommendations as described above, but with a slightly modified cost as described below.

TURN adjusted PG&E's costs in a number of ways. For purposes of determining a reasonable budget we will use TURN's three zone assumption. Also, TURN escalates PG&E labor by forecasted factors for the years 2012 and 2013. This is preferable and comparable to what is done in GRCs, as opposed to

PG&E's use of the last negotiated rate for years beyond the labor contract timeframe.<sup>13</sup> Also TURN used a value of \$75,000 for underground devices as opposed to PG&E's use of \$100,000. PG&E indicates that the cost is uncertain and both estimates are reasonable. We will use TURN's estimate.

We will adopt \$136.341 million in capital expenditures for automating the 400 worst-performing circuits. This reflects TURN's recommendation but allows PG&E to recover limited costs for pole replacements and vehicles. TURN does not assert that these costs are not necessary or related, and to the extent possible we prefer to consider related costs together in one proceeding. Today's adopted pole replacement and vehicle costs are commensurate with the reduced level of distribution automation capital funding and add \$6.648 million, \$5.678 million for pole replacement costs and \$0.970 million for vehicles.

We will adopt TURN's estimate of \$7.7 million as the distribution automation expense that is related to the adopted capital proposal.

## 8.2. Feeder Interconnectivity

## 8.2.1. PG&E's Proposal

PG&E proposes to upgrade feeders in urban/suburban areas to have more conductor capability, ties and associated equipment in place to transfer customers within three-to-five switching steps when restoring service. According to PG&E, this work directly supports its proposal to install FLISR systems on approximately 1,200 circuits, adding that the estimated reliability

<sup>2 7071</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The adopted labor escalation factor for 2008 to 2012 is 1.1449 (as opposed to PG&E's estimate of 1.1587) and the adopted labor escalation factor for 2008 to 2013 is 1.1778 (as opposed to PG&E's estimate of 1.2021).

benefits of distribution automation cannot be achieved without an appropriate level of feeder interconnectivity. In addition, PG&E proposes to enhance the level of interconnectivity on circuits it does not automate. PG&E forecasts capital costs of \$697.167 million related to these efforts.

To determine the amount of work necessary to improve feeder interconnectivity, PG&E states that its engineers analyzed each feeder within urban/suburban distribution planning areas (DPAs) and identified instances where five or more switching steps are necessary to restore all customers following the failure of a feeder. As explained it its testimony, PG&E used the analysis associated with the loss of a feeder and number of transfers as a proxy to estimate the cost to provide the level of feeder interconnectivity necessary to support the distribution automation project proposal and other interconnectivity enhancements. After identifying the work necessary to resolve feeder deficiencies, a multiplier of 2.8 based on a weighted average of estimated zones per circuit<sup>14</sup> was applied to estimate the amount of work.

Using this analysis, PG&E has estimated an expenditure level it believes is appropriate but has not developed a specific list of projects pending a detailed circuit-by-circuit analysis. PG&E states that if the Commission approves its request, engineers would then perform the detailed analysis necessary to identify the specific projects. Their primary focus would be to identify the work necessary to support the deployment of distribution automation and their secondary focus would be to identify work that will enhance the interconnectivity of circuits that are not automated.

\_

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$  Multiplier equals weighted average of estimated zones per circuit minus one because the zone served by the breaker does not need a tie.

#### 8.2.2. Discussion

We have adopted a certain level of distribution automation as discussed earlier in this decision and agree that a certain amount of feeder interconnectivity is necessary to accommodate that level. However, with a minor exception, we will not adopt further proposed expenditures to enhance the interconnectivity of circuits that are not automated. Again, the need for a broadly based program has not been justified. PG&E may request such enhancements in future proceedings provided it can justify the need and costs for such a program.

As part of its alternative recommendation, TURN recommends that the Commission approve an escalated capital expenditure of \$45.538 million for connectivity to support the distribution automation portion of its alternative recommendation. This includes \$7.4 million of "low-hanging fruit" identified in its testimony plus some additional circuitry to support distribution automation. TURN's recommended budget is based on the average unit cost per circuit of the lowest 60% of connectivity projects to obtain four transfers, a multiplier of 2.0 (the maximum for its proposal to automate three zones), and 32% of total circuits being completed in three years.

We previously adopted TURN's proposal for automating the 400 worst-performing circuits. We will also adopt TURN's recommendation with respect to the related needs for circuit connectivity. It will provide a reasonable amount of capital for improving connectivity, recognizing that the existing distribution system has a significant amount of existing connectivity and that while connectivity work related to distribution automation may be needed, PG&E should prioritize the projects it undertakes by skipping over very expensive projects with limited reliability benefits.

Additionally, we will adopt the TURN recommendation to invest approximately \$7.4 million in the cheapest of the capacity connectivity projects that actually have reliability benefits.<sup>15</sup> TURN notes that PG&E should be able to realize over 1 minute of SAIDI by such investment. In general, we support specific reliability improvement programs or projects that are cost-effective.

# 8.3. Substation Transformer Emergency Capacity

## 8.3.1. PG&E's Proposal

PG&E is proposing to change its planning process related to emergency transformer deficiencies to ensure there is adequate back-up for these critical pieces of equipment, reduce the risk of customers experiencing long-duration outages and ensure there is available capacity to fully implement the distribution automation proposal. Because utilization factors are high, lead times and costs for replacement units have increased and mobile transformers can take up to 24 hours to install, PG&E believes it is inappropriate to rely on mobile transformers to resolve substation transformer emergency deficiencies. Instead, PG&E proposes that urban/suburban DPAs have adequate emergency capacity installed within the DPA to cover the loss of a substation transformer bank without having to rely on a mobile transformer to restore service. Under PG&E's Cornerstone proposal, PG&E will plan for adequate capacity to restore all customers using the remaining capacity in the DPA following the failure of any transformer bank. This means PG&E will rely on the emergency ratings of the remaining transformers and other facilities as necessary to restore customers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> In Exhibit 121, at 79-80, TURN shows that in dividing the projects into quintiles, the first two quintiles provide 43% of the total reliability benefits for all of the 194 projects for only \$7.4 million or 6.5% of the \$114.6 million total cost.

Mobile transformer would instead be used to return the remaining transformers and facilities to their normal ratings.

PG&E's states that continued use of mobile transformers as defined in the current emergency capacity criteria would negate the benefits associated with Cornerstone proposal. Specifically continued reliance on mobile transformers means: (1) extended customer outage risks would not be reduced; (2) emergency capacity would not be available during all loading periods, especially the higher loading periods; (3) FLISR systems may not operate during the higher loading periods affecting customers as well as the estimated SAIFI and SAIFI improvements; (4) there would be an increase in the overall risk around critical equipment that is rising in cost and experiencing longer lead times; (5) there would be no life extension of current substation transformers and equipment; and (6) Cornerstone would not ultimately correct a system with known emergency substation transformer deficiencies which increases the likelihood of single failures cascading into larger events affecting thousands of customers.

As substation transformers, new feeder breakers and associated distribution facilities are installed to provide the emergency capacity PG&E is recommending, PG&E states it will coordinate that installation work with the feeder interconnectivity work to ensure a fully integrated distribution system. Together, these new facilities will support PG&E's distribution automation proposal by providing enough capacity to allow automated feeders to operate year-round.

Based on its proposal to phase out the use of mobile transformers to provide substation transformer emergency capacity, Cornerstone includes

95 specific transformer bank projects over the years 2011 through 2016 at a total capital cost of \$610 million.

The specifics of PG&E's proposal were addressed by TURN and DRA in their opposition to the request.

#### 8.3.2. Discussion

In rebuttal PG&E states:

...Again, PG&E stresses that [Cornerstone] is fundamentally a policy question of whether PG&E should undertake the work to move to a new level of reliability performance, distribution system flexibility, and robustness. If so, because distribution substation transformers are the single most important piece of equipment in the electric distribution system, PG&E believes it is appropriate for the Commission to include this part of the company's proposal, which includes a higher level of emergency substation emergency capacity in urban/suburban areas to reach the new goal.<sup>16</sup>

While reliability performance, distribution flexibility, and robustness are laudable goals, the need to move to higher levels of each has not been demonstrated. Hence, as discussed earlier, we have rejected PG&E's Cornerstone proposal. Consequently, it would not be appropriate to make the wholesale changes proposed by PG&E with respect to substation transformer emergency capacity. In addition, we are somewhat troubled by PG&E's specific proposal to make the change to rely less on mobile transformers.

In opposing PG&E's substation transformer proposal, TURN makes the following important points, most of which were not rebutted by PG&E:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Exhibit 2, at 2-3 to 2-4.

- PG&E's distribution planning guidelines have historically required a cost-benefit analysis prior to the installation of substation emergency capacity projects, in order to reduce costs while maintaining reliability.
- The outages the emergency capacity project would address are extremely rare.
- PG&E's Substation Asset Management Program has significantly improved transformer reliability.
- Substation transformers are extremely reliable.
- Peak periods are quite narrow in most locations, making the likelihood of a transformer failure during peak load small.
- PG&E's emergency capacity program would not have affected most of the 33 transformer outages with associated customer outages that occurred from 2002 – 2008.
- The emergency capacity project is clearly unreasonable when subjected to TURN's elementary value of service analysis.
- The emergency capacity program will contribute miniscule benefits to SAIDI and SAIFI for \$610 million.
- With respect to the danger of long outages, the outages that have been observed total 0.82 minutes of outage per customer per year.
- By fragmenting Cornerstone from GRC costs, PG&E is creating a misleading and incomplete analysis.
   PG&E is already taking several other steps to rate its system more conservatively and build more "normal" capacity to reduce normal overloads. Such steps are already funded or proposed for 2011 GRC funding.
- The purpose of mobile transformers is to maintain flexibility to use them in emergencies, not to use

them as temporary replacements for aging equipment as proposed by PG&E. TURN submits that if the Commission believes there is a small reliability problem with PG&E's transformer fleet, it should encourage PG&E to acquire a few more mobile transformers instead of spending half a billion dollars on new substation transformers. TURN notes the Energy Policy Act of 2005 encouraged the use of mobile transformers.

- With respect to distribution automation benefits, the bulk of such benefits come from speeding up what PG&E has always done with its system manually. Only incremental and second order benefits would come from adding any capacity elsewhere on the system. Also, emergency capacity does not provide normal capacity, according to PG&E itself. If these benefits were truly significant, PG&E would have spent time and effort quantifying them.
- The potential for life extension of transformers is an economic benefit. Engineering literature suggests that the optimal loading of distribution transformers can be analyzed using cost-benefit and value of service analysis – the very techniques that PG&E has eschewed in this application.

First of all, not only has the overall need for PG&E's Cornerstone proposal not been shown, the specific need for the substation transformer emergency capacity proposal has also not been demonstrated. It is not clear what the problems are that PG&E's proposal would solve. TURN's evidence suggests that, with respect to substation transformer emergency capacity, the extended customer outage risk is low and the bulk of FLISR benefits associated with distribution automation do not depend on the more redundant system that PG&E's proposal would provide.

Even if there were a problem with respect to substation transformer emergency capacity, there is not a preponderance of evidence that indicates that PG&E's proposal to not rely on mobile transformers is the optimal solution. For instance, TURN suggests the possibility of incorporating more mobile transformers rather than less, noting that the Electric Power Research Institute is conducting research into cheaper emergency mobile transformers with 20% lower cost, 25% less weight and 50% faster installation.

At this point, we suggest that as part of future reliability related analyses, PG&E take into consideration TURN and DRA criticisms of its proposal in this case in justifying the need for improving substation transformer emergency capacity and choosing and prioritizing the optimal solution to address that need.<sup>17</sup>

While we will not adopt PG&E's approximate \$610 million substation transformer emergency capacity proposal, and expect that at least in the short term PG&E will rely on mobile transformers to address related problems, we do note that PG&E's individual bank loss deficiency studies indicate there are 191 substation emergency deficiencies and the proposal for 95 specific projects addresses deficiencies that range from slightly more than

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> DRA's criticism of the proposal included, among other things, that the capacity costs are not justified by the small benefits; the small reliability improvements are not all due to Cornerstone; PG&E did not update its analysis; the details necessary to conduct an analysis of specific projects were not provided to DRA; and changes in the California economy need to be reflected in the DPA analysis. We do note that PG&E did rebut much of what DRA said. However, with respect to analysis of specific projects, we expect that much of DRA's concerns will be alleviated if PG&E's follows the directives of this decision in choosing and documenting optimal solutions after considering the severity of the problem, reasonable alternatives, appropriate cost-effectiveness analyses, and non-quantifiable benefits.

0.1 megawatt (MW) to 38.6 MW. Even though the risk of outages related to substation emergency capacity appears to be low, we do not wish to overextend the mobile transformers. We believe it is prudent to keep the potential number of deficient transformer banks in check by adopting a limited number of specific projects for those substations that have the largest MW deficiencies. This will help ensure the continued viability of mobile transformer use for emergency capacity purposes. The list of projects provided by PG&E for the period 2010 through 2013 shows that there are 23 substations with deficiencies greater than 15 MW. 15 MW appears to be a reasonable cut off point to address our immediate concern to not overextend the use of mobile transformers. If spread over the time period 2011 to 2013, based on PG&E's cost estimate, the capital expenditures total \$108.220 million for substation transformers.<sup>18</sup> We will include an additional \$5.329 million for associated feeder breakers, \$0.962 million for distribution substation planning, \$1.763 million for distribution capacity project management, and \$1.487 million for substation maintenance expenses.<sup>19</sup> In future proceedings, assuming the continued use of mobile transformers, we expect that more detailed analyses of need will provide a more appropriate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> TURN claims that PG&E's unit cost for substation transformers is high. However, we will use PG&E's estimates, noting that its costs are based upon an analysis of all projects over a full year and compared to prior year's unit costs. We prefer this to TURN's analysis that used only three data points in its analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> These amounts reflect 11 breakers, reduced distribution substation planning and distribution capacity project management costs based on the ratio of adopted capital expenditures to PG&E requested capital expenditures for those categories, and substation maintenance expenses associated with 8 transformers installed in 2011 and 8 transformers installed in 2012.

delineation of whether such a cut off point based on MW deficiency or number of deficiencies is necessary, and, if so, what an appropriate value would be.

## 8.4. Rural Reliability

# 8.4.1. PG&E's Proposal

PG&E states that it is including a rural component to this filing for a number of reasons. First, the performance of PG&E's electric distribution system in rural areas is noticeably worse than other utilities. Second, the Company believes that rural circuits are likely less suitable for distribution automation because circuit ties may be inadequate and/or establishing communication between all the devices may be problematic. Third, rural circuits are generally longer than suburban/urban circuits. According to PG&E, this makes them good candidates for devices that will mitigate the number of customer minutes and interruptions due to faults on tap-lines or sections of mainline that are far away from Company service centers.

PG&E's proposes to install approximately 500 reclosers and 5,000 fuses on 16 rural circuits between 2010 and 2016. PG&E estimates a total capital expenditure of \$62.4 million to install these devices which, when fully installed and operational, will improve annual SAIDI and SAIFI values by approximately five percent and seven percent, respectively, over the 2004 to 2008 average. PG&E has also estimated and requested \$0.236 million in expenses associated with the rural reliability program.

PG&E states that its testimony from the 2007 GRC included information regarding reliability and the installation of protective devices, and its proposal in this proceeding simply represents more of the same type of work described in that rate case.

### 8.4.2. Discussion

If nothing else, the reliability comparison information provided by PG&E reveals that among PG&E customers, those in low density areas, principally rural, receive less reliable service than those in high density areas. Similar to the worst circuit program that is adopted for distribution automation, the rural reliability program addresses problems for certain PG&E customers who, as a matter of course, receive worse service than other PG&E customers. Additionally, TURN indicates that, while it did not analyze the rural reliability proposal in detail, it seemed on the surface to be cost-effective. For that reason, TURN indicated that despite its primary recommendation that the entire Cornerstone project be rejected, it would not object if the Commission saw fit to reject everything other than the rural reliability component. In its alternative recommendation, TURN accelerated PG&E's 2010 to 2016 proposal over its recommended 2010 to 2013 time period. CUE also recognized the cost-effectiveness of the rural reliability proposal and recommended that the fuse and recloser program be expanded where cost-effective, not only for rural areas but for urban and suburban areas as well.

Because we see a need for improving rural reliability and PG&E's proposal appears to be cost-effective, we will adopt PG&E's proposal to install 5,000 fuses and 500 reclosers on rural circuits. Because this decision's authorization for reliability improvements extends only through 2013, we will accelerate the installation over the 2010 through 2013 time period, as recommended by TURN. We will not expand the proposal further as recommended by CUE, because it is not clear what PG&E has or has not included in its 2011 GRC for related improvements. The need to further expand the program can be appropriately evaluated in future GRC filings. For this

proceeding, we adopt \$59.294 million in capital expenditures and \$0.079 million in expenses for rural reliability, as discussed below.

In response to DRA's claims that there is insufficient justification for the estimated capital and expense estimates, PG&E indicates that the number of installations was determined by reviewing data provided by distribution engineers and performing an analysis of primary circuit connectivity, and the unit costs were based on judgment after reviewing what was included in the 2007 GRC, a sampling of project authorizations and discussions with other engineering management personnel. With respect to the number of poles that would need to be replaced, PG&E states that judgment was used because there are no data that provide better values. While it may not be based on detailed calculations, PG&E has sufficiently explained its estimating methodology. In general, there is no prohibition against using subjective judgment of experienced personnel in making an estimate. We evaluate such methodologies along with whatever else is proposed and determine what is most reasonable. In this proceeding, with respect to the rural reliability proposal, there are no other estimating methodologies on the record and there is no evidence that PG&E's results are unreasonable. Therefore, for the most part, we accept PG&E's cost estimates for rural reliability as being reasonable. They have been adjusted only for the cost per pole recommended by DRA (\$7,750 versus \$8,200 estimated by PG&E) and accepted by PG&E and the labor escalation factors for 2012 and 2013 as recommended by TURN and discussed earlier for distribution automation.

### 8.5. SAIDI and SAIFI Benefits

PG&E's Cornerstone request includes \$1.997 million in capital expenditures over the 2010 through 2016 timeframe. PG&E claims that the benefits of its Cornerstone proposal are a reduction of 39.3 minutes per customer per year for SAIDI and a reduction of 0.405 interruptions per customer per year for SAIFI. In authorizing \$357 million in capital expenditures over the 2010 through 2013 timeframe, we have selected the most cost effective parts of the project consistent with the recommendations of TURN. Consequently, the SAIDI and SAIFI benefits associated with this decision correspond to those claimed by TURN, namely, 26.6 minutes per customer per year for SAIDI and 0.265 interruptions per customer per year for SAIFI. Therefore, we estimate that this decision will capture approximately 68 percent of PG&E's claimed SAIDI benefit and 65 percent of PG&E's claimed SAIFI benefit for 18 percent of the

capital expenditures requested by PG&E.20

# 9. Adopted Costs

The following table shows the adopted capital expenditures and expenses for the time period 2010 through 2013.

Adopted	2010		2011 (Dolla		2012 ars in thousa		_	2013		Total
Capital Expenditures				(Done	1131	ii tiious	ouric	.5)		
Distribution Capacity										
Feeder Interconnectivity	\$	4,992	\$ 1	10,779	\$	14,706	\$	15,061	\$	45,538
Substation Capacity		310	3	38,900		39,972		35,330		114,512
Project Management		174		606		510		473		1,763
Distribution Automation		15,547	3	32,066		43,804		44,924		136,341
Rural Reliability		4,229	1	15,968		19,313		19,784		59,294
<b>Total Capital Expenditures</b>	\$ 25,252		\$ 98,319		\$118,305		\$115,572		\$	357,448
Expenses										
Distribution Capacity										
Feeder Interconnectivity	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Substation Capacity		-		-		487		1,000		1,487
Distribution Automation		-		754		2,336		4,563		7,653
Rural Reliability		<u> </u>		5		25		49		79
Total Expenses	\$	-	\$	759	\$	2,848	\$	5,612	\$	9,219

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Actual SAIDI and SAIFI benefits will depend on which projects PG&E implements through its prioritization and selection process. Also, the cited TURN and decision SAIDI and SAIFI benefits do not include benefits associated with the \$60.446 million in authorized capital expenditures for substation transformer emergency capacity. Such benefits are likely to be relatively small. PG&E estimated SAIDI and SAIFI reductions of 3.6 minutes per customer per year and 0.037 interruptions per customer per year in conjunction with its \$517 million substation transformer emergency capacity capital expenditure request.

# 10. Implementation Flexibility

We expect PG&E to optimize the funds authorized by this decision to mitigate the identified problems of worst-performing circuits, emergency substation capacity and rural reliability. In identifying and prioritizing projects<sup>21</sup> to determine how the money should be spent, PG&E should consider the severity of the problems, options available, cost-effectiveness analysis, and non-quantifiable benefits. In that respect PG&E has flexibility as to how it implements the improvements and what it spends. With exception of shifting funds to the emergency substation capacity program, we will allow PG&E to shift funds between programs. Regarding emergency substation capacity, we prefer to limit this aspect of the authorization to, at most, the identified projects with 15 MW deficiencies or more.

# 11. Cost Recovery

PG&E proposes the following regulatory ratemaking treatment for the Cornerstone costs:

- Rates will be set initially to recover forecast Project costs, with true-up to actual costs achieved through a proposed new balancing account.
- PG&E requests that the Commission find the forecast costs for the initiatives in this Application reasonable. If, after completing four years of Project work, PG&E's forecast of costs to Project completion has increased, PG&E will request Commission approval of the revised forecast.
- Distribution revenue requirements and rates covering this Project will be revised annually in the Annual Electric True-Up (AET) advice letters, or as otherwise authorized

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> In future proceedings, we expect PG&E to go through this process to justify proposed projects as part of its filings and not as part of the implementation of a final decision.

by the Commission, to include the forecast revenue requirement for the year in the Distribution Revenue Adjustment Mechanism (DRAM) base revenue amount and an adjustment for the difference between the forecast and recorded revenue requirement.

PG&E believes this proposal fairly balances risks between shareholders and customers, while allowing the Project to proceed in a timely manner, consistent with Commission direction. Furthermore, with this proposal, PG&E's shareholders will also receive assurance of cost recovery in a timely manner.

While DRA is recommending no ratepayer funding for Cornerstone, if funding is authorized, DRA recommends a one-way balancing account to track the expenditures. DRA also opposes PG&E's proposal that after four years of project work, PG&E can seek recovery of additional expenditures through its fifth annual report. DRA states that PG&E's proposal is equivalent to giving PG&E a signed blank check, as this would provide PG&E a second opportunity to seek additional funding for the same project through an annual report without any credible opportunity for DRA and other intervenors to review and analyze the reasonableness of any requested additional costs. Therefore, DRA is recommending that, if the Commission authorizes funding for Cornerstone, the Commission adopt a firm funding level over the life of the project in which PG&E cannot recover expenditures above the Commission authorized funding level. Additionally, the one-way balancing account allows for the return to ratepayers of any authorized Cornerstone funding that is not spent by the utility.

Similarly, if the Commission opts to approve some spending and permits PG&E to institute separate ratemaking for Cornerstone, TURN recommends the following:

- 1. A balancing account should be a one-way balancing account. PG&E should not be provided an opportunity to spend more than any amount that is adopted as part of a ratemaking mechanism that is separate from the GRC.
- 2. The balancing account should be balanced on a yearly basis—if there is underspending in a particular year, the balance must be returned to ratepayers in the concurrent year, and not at the proposed end of the program.
- 3. The Commission should adopt the amount of funding it decides is appropriate, decide how much of that amount should be in spent in each year of the program, and then only allow recovery for the first three years of the program. This will give PG&E a chance to prove its performance. If it does prove its performance in the first three years of the program, then it can come back in the subsequent rate case and request whatever additional funding it might need for a reasonable extended program.

### 11.1. Discussion

Because of the way in which this application is resolved, it is necessary to modify PG&E's cost recovery proposal. First of all, as opposed to PG&E's request for a six-year cost recovery authorization (2011-2016), the cost recovery authorized by this decision is for the period 2011 through 2013 only. From 2014 on, issues related to increasing electric distribution reliability will be addressed in the GRC process.

To ensure that authorized funds are used as intended, we will adopt PG&E's proposal to initially set rates based on the adopted forecast of costs and to establish a new balancing account. As described earlier, PG&E has flexibility in how it spends authorized funds, with respect to the specific projects that are

initiated and completed. Also, in determining optimal spending, we will give PG&E the flexibility of moving funds from one year to another, within the three year period. As proposed by PG&E, distribution revenue requirements and rates covering the projects authorized by this decision will be revised annually in the AET advice letters to include the forecast revenue requirement for the year in the DRAM base revenue amount and an adjustment for the difference between the forecast and recorded revenue requirement. However, beginning in 2014, use of a separate balancing account to accumulate revenue requirements will end and project costs should be recovered through the GRC process.

PG&E should control its expenditures to remain within the three year capital and expense amounts adopted by this decision. We will therefore not provide the opportunity as part of this proceeding for PG&E to recover any costs in excess of what is authorized over the 2010 through 2103 period. However, to the extent that PG&E does not spend the adopted amounts, appropriate refunds or credits to ratepayers should be made.

With respect to reasonableness, due to the flexibility that PG&E has in spending authorized funds, we are not able to determine at this time whether or not the company's decisions regarding the specific projects to fund and when to construct them are reasonable. For that reason, we will require PG&E to submit annual reports as discussed below. Other than that, expenditures authorized by this decision will be subject to the same reasonableness standards as for projects that are forecasted and adopted in the GRC process. That is, once completed, there is no requirement for a reasonableness showing or review. However, parties are not precluded from raising issues of reasonableness as part of future GRC proceedings where the recorded costs of the projects are embedded in rates.

Whether or not PG&E optimized its expenditures in a reasonable manner might be such an issue. If necessary, we can make prospective adjustments to rates in the future.

Since no party objects to the results of operations model that PG&E used to calculate the revenue requirements for this proceeding, it is reasonable for PG&E to use that model to calculate the revenue requirements for the expenditures adopted by this decision. PG&E should include the details of the revenue requirement calculations in the advice letter that implements Cornerstone related rate changes for 2011.

# 12. Reporting Requirements

PG&E proposes to provide annual reports to the Commission on Cornerstone's progress. These reports would include discussion of work completed during the prior calendar year and the cost of that work, and a forecast of work to be performed in the current calendar year. The report will also present the current trends in the escalated cost of the plant and equipment being installed. PG&E states that after experiencing the volatile escalation of costs over the last three years for transformers and other equipment that resulted from the increased cost of copper, PG&E is concerned that additional increases that are outside of its control might increase costs above the forecasts presented in this application. If that concern proves true, PG&E proposes that its fifth annual report would present PG&E's revised forecast of remaining work and the associated costs. Based on that report/forecast the Commission could determine the reasonableness of the revised Project cost estimate and determine whether to authorize PG&E to continue with the work up to the new forecast amount or discontinue work when the forecast cost presented in this Application is reached.

Conversely, if PG&E completes the work at a lower cost than authorized, the reduction in revenue requirement would be credited to customers.

### 12.1. Discussion

Because of the manner in which we have authorized funding for Cornerstone, there is a need for reporting requirements. As proposed by PG&E, it should provide annual reports that discuss work completed during the prior calendar year and the cost of that work, and a forecast of work to be performed in the current calendar year. The report should also include an accounting of the specific projects that have been funded or are being funded<sup>22</sup> and a description of how the final projects were selected including that related to alternatives, cost-effectiveness and priorities.<sup>23</sup> This will provide assurance to the Commission that PG&E is using its authorization as intended and in a responsible manner. Reports should be submitted annually by March 1, in each of the years 2011 through 2014, for work done in the prior year. For example, the report for work done in 2010 will be due by March 1, 2011.

With respect to PG&E's proposal for potentially increasing authorized costs, as indicated previously, rate recovery through this proceeding is capped by the adopted forecasted amounts. For the 2014 GRC, PG&E can include Cornerstone expenditures through 2013 on a recorded basis, to the extent possible. For the remainder of the projects not yet completed, forecasted costs can be used to determine the appropriate amount to carry forward as part of the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> This should include the costs as forecasted in this application, the final budgeted costs after detailed analysis, and the final recorded costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> This should include analyses related to the use of outside contractors versus the use of PG&E personnel, if applicable.

2014 authorization. From then on, recorded costs should be reflected in plant in service and rates in a similar manner as for other projects forecasted in GRCs.<sup>24</sup>

# 13. Rate Design

PG&E proposes to recover the cost of Cornerstone in electric distribution rates in the same manner as other distribution revenue requirements, by using the then current revenue allocation and rate design methods to change rates. There is no opposition to PG&E's rate design proposal and it will be adopted.

## 14. Comments on Proposed Decision

The proposed decision of the ALJ in this matter was mailed to the parties in accordance with Section 311 of the Pub. Util. Code and comments were allowed under Rule 14.3 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure. Comments were filed on June 14, 2009 by PG&E, TURN, CCSF, ESC and CFBF, and reply comments were filed on June 21, 2010 by PG&E, TURN, and CFBF, and DRA.

To the extent that comments merely reargued the parties' positions taken in their briefs, those comments have not been given any weight. The comments which focused on factual, technical, and legal errors have been considered, and, if appropriate, changes have been made.

# 15. Assignment of Proceeding

Michael R. Peevey is the assigned Commissioner and David K. Fukutome is the assigned Administrative Law Judge in this proceeding.

While projects may initially be reflected in rates on a forecasted basis, at some point they become embedded in recorded plant in service and are then reflected in rates on a recorded basis.

# **Findings of Fact**

- 1. Prior to filing the Cornerstone application, Commissioners expressed concern about PG&E's level of reliability.
- 2. The scope and costs of PG&E's Cornerstone proposal are substantial. While the revenue requirements for the years 2010 through 2016, as calculated by PG&E, amount to \$1.1 billion, cost recovery for the project will extend far beyond that timeframe and result in a revenue requirement totaling closer to \$6 billion.
- 3. While historical SAIDI and SAIFI comparisons indicate that PG&E's reliability is lower than specified comparison groups, there are reasons for the discrepancies as detailed in D.04-10-034.
- 4. PG&E has not provided any compelling evidence for changing the previous Commission determination in D.04-10-034 with respect to reliability comparisons with other utilities.
- 5. PG&E's reliability performance over the past four years has been better than the adequate service standard established in its 1999 GRC (D.00-02-046).
- 6. PG&E's reliability performance has been generally consistent with the targets established by the Commission as part of PG&E's 2005-2007 Reliability Incentive Mechanism (D.04-10-034).
- 7. Projects necessary to maintain the current level of electric distribution reliability are addressed in PG&E's GRCs.
- 8. In the 2005 VOS study, it is indicated that current PG&E customers in all classes report in high numbers that the service they are receiving meets or exceeds their expectations for service quality and that most customers participating in the research are receiving acceptable service, as a function of outage frequency, for service interruptions of all types.
  - 9. There is no new VOS evidence that supersedes, the 2005 VOS study.

- 10. There is no good evidence to indicate what level of overall improved reliability is necessary or appropriate.
- 11. Based on a reduced program, up to 68% of PG&E's quantifiable reliability improvement benefits associated with Cornerstone can be achieved for 18% of PG&E's forecasted capital expenditures.
- 12. With respect to distribution automation, at this point, there is insufficient justification for authorizing capital expenditures amounting to over \$600 million to maximize reliability improvements or create a more robust distribution system.
- 13. Automating the 400 worst circuits would cost \$7.2 million per minute of SAIDI saved, while the additional 817 circuits not in the group of 400 worst would cost \$28.6 million per minute of SAIDI reduction.
- 14. Due to cost uncertainty, TURN's estimate of \$75,000 for underground devices is as reasonable as is PG&E's estimate of \$100,000.
- 15. For years not covered by union contracts, labor escalation in GRCs is generally based on forecasted factors.
- 16. Pole replacement and vehicle costs are legitimate distribution automation costs. Commensurate with the reduced level of distribution automation funding that is adopted, pole replacement and vehicle costs over the 2010 through 2013 period amount to \$5.678 million and \$0.970 million, respectively.
- 17. While the existing distribution system has a significant amount of existing connectivity additional interconnectivity is necessary to accommodate distribution automation.
- 18. When dividing interconnectivity projects into quintiles, the first two quintiles provide 43% of the total reliability benefits for all of the 194 projects for only \$7.4 million or 6.5% of the \$114.6 million total cost.

- 19. PG&E has not demonstrated the need for its proposed higher level of substation transformer emergency capacity.
- 20. With respect to substation transformer emergency capacity, the extended customer outage risk is low, and the bulk of FLISR benefits associated with distribution automation do not depend on the more robust system that PG&E's proposal would provide.
- 21. The purpose of mobile transformers is to maintain flexibility to use them in emergencies.
  - 22. The Energy Policy Act of 2005 encouraged the use of mobile transformers.
- 23. The Electric Power Research Institute is conducting research into cheaper emergency mobile transformers with 20% lower cost, 25% less weight and 50% faster installation.
- 24. PG&E's individual bank loss deficiency studies indicate there are 191 substation emergency deficiencies, and the proposal for 95 specific projects addresses deficiencies that range from slightly more than 0.13 MW to 38.6 MW. For the 2010 through 2013 timeframe, there are 23 substations with deficiencies greater than 15 MW.
- 25. The reliability comparison information provided by PG&E reveals that among PG&E customers, those in low density areas, principally rural, receive less reliable service than those in high density areas.
  - 26. PG&E's rural reliability program is cost-effective.
- 27. There is no opposition to PG&E's proposal to recover the cost of Cornerstone in electric distribution rates in the same manner as other distribution revenue requirements, by using the then current revenue allocation and rate design methods to change rates.

### **Conclusions of Law**

- 1. The preponderance of evidence does not support the need for a program with the scope and cost of Cornerstone as proposed by PG&E.
- 2. Requested cost recovery associated with Cornerstone as proposed by PG&E should be denied.
- 3. It is reasonable to consider specific elements of PG&E's Cornerstone proposal for cost recovery, especially those that address specific problems in a reasonable manner and those that are cost-effective.
- 4. PG&E should address all future electric distribution reliability matters in an integrated fashion through the GRC process.
- 5. As part of its next GRC (after the current ongoing 2011 GRC), PG&E should conduct a new VOS study for use, at least in part, in determining and justifying its electric distribution reliability needs.
- 6. It is important that the needs of customers who continually receive significantly poorer service than others be addressed.
- 7. Basing the adopted distribution automation budget on the automation of the 400 worst-performing circuits is reasonable. However, PG&E should prioritize its program so that it obtains the most reliability benefit for the least cost.
- 8. For purposes of determining a distribution automation budget, use of a 3 zone assumption and a value of \$75,000 for underground devices is reasonable.
- 9. TURN's use of forecasted labor escalation for those years not yet covered by union contracts is reasonable.
- 10. For distribution automation capital expenditures, \$5,678 million for pole replacement costs and \$0.970 million for vehicles are reasonable.

- 11. The need for a broadly based feeder interconnectivity program has not been justified.
- 12. \$36.7 million for connectivity projects to accommodate the adopted level of distribution automation project expenditures is reasonable.
- 13. It is reasonable for PG&E to invest approximately \$7.4 million in the cheapest of the capacity connectivity projects that have reliability benefits.
- 14. At least in the short term, PG&E should continue to rely on mobile transformers to address substation transformer emergency capacity problems.
- 15. In order to help ensure the continued viability of mobile transformer use for emergency capacity purposes, it is prudent to keep the potential number of deficient transformer banks in check. For substation capacity projects proposed over the 2010 through 2013 period, it is reasonable to implement 23 projects, totaling \$114.511 million in capital expenditures, for those substations that have emergency MW deficiencies in excess of 15 MW.
- 16. PG&E's rural reliability program is reasonable, and the proposed projects, totaling \$59.924 million in capital expenditures, should be implemented over the 2010 through 2013 timeframe.
- 17. In identifying and prioritizing projects, PG&E should optimize the funds authorized by this decision to mitigate the identified problems of worst-performing circuits, emergency substation capacity and rural reliability, by considering the severity of the problems, options available, cost-effectiveness analysis, and non-quantifiable benefits. With exception of shifting funds to the emergency substation capacity program, PG&E should be allowed to shift funds between programs.
- 18. Rates should be set initially to recover forecasted costs. PG&E should establish a new balancing account to track recorded costs.

- 19. PG&E should provide annual reports that discuss work completed during the prior calendar year and the cost of that work, and a forecast of work to be performed in the current calendar year. Reports should be submitted annually by March 1 in each of the years 2010 through 2014, for work done in the prior year.
  - 20. PG&E's revenue allocation and rate design proposal is reasonable.

### ORDER

### IT IS ORDERED that:

- 1. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall implement the authorized version of the Cornerstone Improvement Project, for the time period 2010 through 2013, as specified in Attachment A.
- 2. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall file an advice letter by October 1, 2010 to implement rates related to the authorized Cornerstone Improvement Project expenditures for 2011.
- 3. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall use its results of operations model used in this proceeding and incorporate the costs adopted in this decision to determine the appropriate revenue requirements for the years 2011 through 2013. Detailed results shall be included in the advice letter that implements rates for 2011.
- 4. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall recover the authorized costs of the Cornerstone Improvement Project in electric distribution rates in the same manner as other distribution revenue requirements, by using the then current revenue allocation and rate design methods to change rates.
- 5. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall establish the Cornerstone Improvement Project Balancing Account to track the revenue requirements

associated with actual costs. At the end of 2013, any balance associated with authorized revenue requirement in excess of recorded revenue requirement shall be refunded or credited to ratepayers.

- 6. For the years 2012 and 2013, Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall recover the forecast revenue requirements and the year-end balance recorded in the Cornerstone Improvement Project Balancing Account in electric rates in the Annual Electric True-up advice letters for those years.
- 7. As part of its scheduled test year 2014 general rate case filing, Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall include a new value of service study for electric reliability.
- 8. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall provide annual reports that discuss work completed during the prior calendar year and the cost of that work, and a forecast of work to be performed in the current calendar year. The reports shall also include an accounting of the specific projects that have been funded or are being funded and a description of how the final projects were selected including alternatives, cost-effectiveness and priorities. Reports shall be submitted annually by March 1 in each of the years 2010 through 2013, for work done in the prior year.

9. Application 08-05-023 is closed.

This order is effective today.

Dated June 24, 2010, at San Francisco, California.

MICHAEL R. PEEVEY
President
DIAN M. GRUENEICH
JOHN A. BOHN
TIMOTHY ALAN SIMON
NANCY E. RYAN
Commissioners

#### Attachment A

Authorized Expenditures for the Years 2010 through 2013 (Nominal dollars in thousands)

### Distribution Automation

Install FLISR systems and perform associated work on the 400 worst performing circuits, with appropriate prioritization of projects based on the severity of the problem and cost effectiveness analyses.

	2010	2011	2012	2013	Total
Capital Expenditures	\$15,547	\$32,066	\$43,804	\$44,924	\$136,341
Expenses	_	754	2,336	4,563	7,653

## <u>Distribution Capacity -</u>

### Feeder Interconnectivity

Upgrade feeders in urban/suburban areas to accommodate authorized distribution automation and to realize reliability benefits of the most cost effective projects, including the projects specified by TURN that total \$7.4 million.

	2010	2011	2012	2013	Total
Capital Expenditures	\$ 4,992	\$10,779	\$14,706	\$ 15,061	\$ 45,538

## <u>Distribution Capacity -</u>

### Substation Transformer Emergency Capacity

Install transformers on substation banks with emergency capacity deficiencies greater than 15 MW, with appropriate prioritization of projects based on the severity of the problem and cost effectiveness analyses.

	2	2010	2	011	2	012	20	13		Total
Capital Expenditures	\$	310	\$38	8,900	\$39	9,972		5,330	\$ 1	14,512
Expenses		-		-		487		1,000		1,487
<u>Distribution Capacity -</u> <u>Project Management</u>										
	2	2010	2	011	2	012	20	13		Total
Capital Expenditures	\$	174	\$	606	\$	510	\$	473	\$	1,763

## Rural Reliability

Install reclosers and fuses on rural distribution circuits, with appropriate prioritization of projects based on the severity of the problem and cost effectiveness analyses.

	2010	2011	2012	2013	Total
Capital Expenditures	\$ 4,229	\$15,968	\$19,313	19,784	\$ 59,294
Expenses	-	5	25	49	79

(End of Attachment A)

**ATTACHMMENT B Lists of Appearances** 

#### \*\*\*\*\*\*\* PARTIES \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Paul F. Foley ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZO 601 GATEWAY BOULEVARD, STE 1000 SO. SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 pfoley@adamsbroadwell.com For: Coalition of California Utility Employees

Marc D. Joseph RACHAEL E. KOSS Attorney At Law ADAMS, BROADWELL, JOSEPH & CARDOZO 601 GATEWAY BLVD. STE 1000 SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com For: Coalition of California Utility Employees

Nora Sheriff
ALCANTAR & KAHL, LLP
33 NEW MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 1850
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94015
(415) 421-4143
nes@a-klaw.com
For: Energy Producers & Users Coalition

Paul Angelopulo Legal Division RM. 4107 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-4742 pfa@cpuc.ca.gov For: Division of Ratepayer Advocates

Ronald Liebert
Attorney At Law
CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION
2300 RIVER PLAZA DRIVE
SACRAMENTO CA 95833
(916) 561-5657
rliebert@cfbf.com
For: Calkifornia Farm Bureau Federation

Norman J. Furuta FEDERAL EXECUTIVE AGENCIES 1455 MARKET ST., SUITE 1744 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103-1399 (415) 503-6994 norman.furuta@navy.mil For: Federal Executive Agencies

Brian T. Cragg GOODIN, MACBRIDE, SQUERI, DAY & LAMPREY 505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 392-7900 bcragg@goodinmacbride.com For: Engineers and Scientists of Calif, Local 20, Int'l Federation of Prof & Tech Engineers, AFL-CIO/CLC

William H. Booth LAW OFFICES OF WILLIAM H. BOOTH 67 CARR DRIVE MORAGA CA 94556 (925) 376-7370 wbooth@booth-law.com For: Law Office of William H. Booth

Thomas J. Long
DENNIS J. HERRERA; THERRESA J. MUELLER
Attorney At Law
OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY
CITY HALL, ROOM 234
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102
(415) 554-6548
thomas.long@sfgov.org
For: City & County of San Francisco

Mark D. Patrizio PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY PO BOX 7442 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120 (415) 973-6344 mdp5@pge.com For: Pacific Gas & Electric Company

Patrick G.. Golden
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
PO BOX 7742
77 BEALE STREET, ROOM 3051, B30A
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102
(415) 973-6642
PGG4@pge.com
For: Pacific Gas & Electric Company

Robert Finkelstein Legal Director THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 115 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 929-8876 bfinkelstein@turn.org For: The Utility Reform Network

#### \*\*\*\*\*\* STATE EMPLOYEE \*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Truman L. Burns Division of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4102 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2932 txb@cpuc.ca.gov For: DRA

Sophie Chia Division of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4203 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-5609 swc@cpuc.ca.gov

Matthew Deal Policy & Planning Division RM. 5119 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2576 mjd@cpuc.ca.gov

David K. Fukutome Administrative Law Judge Division RM. 5042 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2403 dkf@cpuc.ca.gov

David K. Lee Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1137 dkl@cpuc.ca.gov Kevin S. Nakamura Division of Water and Audits 770 L STREET, SUITE 1050 Sacramento CA 95814 (916) 324-8687 kev@cpuc.ca.gov

Brian D. Schumacher Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1226 bds@cpuc.ca.gov

Karen M. Shea Executive Division AREA 5-E 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 355-5506 kms@cpuc.ca.gov

### \*\*\*\*\*\* INFORMATION ONLY \*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Rachael E. Koss ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZA 601 GATEWAY BOULEVARD, SUITE 1000 SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 rkoss@adamsbroadwell.com

Karen Terranova ALCANTAR & KAHL 33 NEW MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 1850 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 421-4143 filings@a-klaw.com

Barbara R. Barkovich BARKOVICH & YAP, INC. 44810 ROSEWOOD TERRACE MENDOCINO CA 95460 (707) 936-6203 brbarkovich@earthlink.net

Reed Schmidt
BARTLE WELLS ASSOCIATES
1889 ALCATRAZ AVENUE
BERKELEY CA 94703-2714
(510) 653-3399 X-111
rschmidt@bartlewells.com
For: California City-County Street Light Association
(CAL-SLA)

Reed V. Schmidt BARTLE WELLS ASSOCIATES 1889 ALCATRAZ AVENUE BERKELEY CA 94703-2714 (510) 653-3399 X111 rschmidt@bartlewells.com

CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS 425 DIVISADERO STREET, STE 303 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94117 (415) 963-4439 cem@newsdata.com

Hilary Corrigan CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS 425 DIVISADERO STREET, SUITE 303 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94117 (415) 963-4439 X 14 cem@newsdata.com

Ann L. Trowbridge
DAY CARTER & MURPHY LLP
3620 AMERICAN RIVER DRIVE, SUITE 205
SACRAMENTO CA 95864
(916) 570-2500 X 103
atrowbridge@daycartermurphy.com
For: Merced Irrigation District and Modesto Irrigation District

Ralph E. Dennis DENNIS CONSULTING 2805 BITTERSWEET LANE LA GRANGE KY 40031 (502) 241-5686 ralphdennis@insightbb.com

Don Liddell DOUGLASS & LIDDELL 2928 2ND AVENUE SAN DIEGO CA 92103 (619) 993-9096 liddell@energyattorney.com

Wendy L. Illingworth ECONOMIC INSIGHTS 320 FEATHER LANE SANTA CRUZ CA 95060 (831) 427-2163 wendy@econinsights.com Mark Mitchell Business Manager ENGINEERS & SCIENTISTS OF CA., LOCAL 20 350 FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, 8TH FL OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 238-8320 mmitchell@ifpte20.org

Samara Rassi FELLON-MCCORD & ASSOCIATES 9960 CORPORATE CAMPUS DR., SUITE 2500 LOUISVILLE KY 40223-4055 (504) 214-6303

Garrick Jones JBS ENERGY 311 D STREET WEST SACRAMENTO CA 95605 (916) 372-0534 garrick@jbsenergy.com

James Heckler LEVIN CAPITAL STRATEGIES 595 MADISON AVENUE NEW YORK NY 10022 (212) 259-0851 Jheckler@levincap.com

David Marcus PO BOX 1287 BERKELEY CA 94701 (510) 528-0728 dmarcus2@sbcglobal.net

MRW & ASSOCIATES, LLC 1814 FRANKLIN STREET, SUITE 720 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 834-1999 mrw@mrwassoc.com

Kenneth Swain NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC. 3100 ZINFANDEL DR., SUITE 600 RANCHO CORDOVA CA 95670 (916) 631-3200 kenneth.swain@navigantconsulting.com For: Navigant Consulting, INC

Charles R. Middlekauff PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, B30A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120 (415) 973-2713

Bruce T. Smith
Case Manager
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
77 BEALE STREET, B9A
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105
(415) 973-2616
bts1@pge.com

Case Coordination
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
PO BOX 770000; MC B9A
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177
(415) 973-4744
regrelcpuccases@pge.com
For: PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

Jennifer S. Abrams
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
PO BOX 7442
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120
(415) 973-4462
JSAd@pge.com

Lauren Rohde PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-8340 ldri@pge.com

Regulatory File Room PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY PO BOX 7442 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120 (415) 973-4295 CPUCCases@pge.com

Andre Devilbiss Associate, Development RECURRENT ENERGY 300 CALIFORNIA STREET, 8TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 501-9521 andre.devilbiss@recurrentenergy.com

Jim Howell RECURRENT ENERGY 300 CALIFORNIA ST., 8TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 501-9414 jim.howell@recurrentenergy.com

Keith R. Mccrea

### crmd@pge.com

Luke Dunnington Associate, Development RECURRENT ENERGY 300 CALIFORNIA STREET, 8TH FL SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 501-9529 luke.dunnington@recurrentenergy.com

Sandra Rovetti Regulatory Affairs Manager SAN FRANCISCO PUC 1155 MARKET STREET, 4TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103 (415) 554-3179 srovetti@sfwater.org

Theresa Burke SAN FRANCISCO PUC 1155 MARKET STREET, 4TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103 (415) 554-1567 tburke@sfwater.org

Rebecca W. Giles SDG&E AND SOCALGAS 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32D SAN DIEGO CA 92123-1530 (858) 636-6876 RGiles@semprautilities.com

Bruce Foster SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 601 VAN NESS AVENUE, STE. 2040 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 775-1856 bruce.foster@sce.com

Frank A. Mcnulty Attorney At Law SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY PO BOX 800, 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE. ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-1499 mcnultfa@sce.com

Raquel Ippoliti SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY CASE ADMINISTRATION - LAW DEPARTMENT 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE. ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-3003 case.admin@sce.com

Attorney At Law SUTHERLAND ASBILL & BRENNAN LLP 1275 PENNSYLVANIA AVE, NW WASHINGTON DC 20004-2415 (202) 383-0705 keith.mccrea@sutherland.com For: California Manufacturers & Technology Association

0,

Michel Peter Florio Attorney At Law THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 115 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 929-8876 X302 mflorio@turn.org

Julien Dumoulin-Smith Associate Analyst UBS INVESTMENT RESEARCH 1285 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS NEW YORK NY 10019 (212) 713-9848 julien.dumoulin-smith@ubs.com

Adar Zango Analyst ZIMMER LUCAS PARTNERS 535 MADISON - 6TH FLOOR NEW YORK NY 10022 (212) 440-0749 zango@zimmerlucas.com

(END OF ATTACHMENT B)